

(VIII) CDS PROCEDURES**INDEX**

	Page
1. ADDITIONAL DEFINITIONS.....	2
2. ADDITIONAL MEMBERSHIP REQUIREMENTS FOR CDS CLEARING MEMBERS.....	8
3. OTHER PROCEDURES.....	9 <u>10</u>
4. SUBMISSION AND ACCEPTANCE OF CDS CONTRACTS.....	9 <u>10</u>
5. CDS DEFAULT COMMITTEE.....	18 <u>19</u>
6. REGIONAL CDS COMMITTEES AND DISPUTE RESOLUTION PROCEDURES.....	20 <u>21</u>
7. CLEARING HOUSE CDS CONTRIBUTIONS.....	36
8. CREDIT EVENTS AND PHYSICAL SETTLEMENT.....	37 <u>38</u>
9. CLEARED CDS PRODUCTS: ELIGIBLE SETS.....	51 <u>53</u>
10. CONTRACT TERMS FOR ALL CDS CONTRACTS.....	52 <u>53</u>
11. CONTRACT TERMS FOR ITRAXX EUROPE CONTRACTS.....	57 <u>59</u>
12. CONTRACT TERMS FOR SINGLE NAME CDS CONTRACTS.....	65 <u>67</u>
13. CONTRACT TERMS FOR SOVEREIGN CONTRACTS.....	69 <u>71</u>

24 NOVEMBER 2011 S&S DRAFT

~~+~~

ADDITIONAL DEFINITIONS

- 1.1 The terms "2005 Matrix Supplement", "Accreted Amount", "Accreting Obligation", "Auction Cancellation Date", "Auction Final Price Determination Date", "Bankruptcy", "Calculation Agent", "Credit Event", "Credit Derivatives Determinations Committees", "Confirmation", "Credit Event Backstop Date", "Credit Event Notice", "Credit Event Resolution Request Date", "Dealer", "Deliverable Obligation", "Deliverable Obligation Characteristics", "Delivery", "Delivery Date", "Event Determination Date", "Exercise Cut-Off Date", "Extension Date", "Failure to Pay", "Fallback Settlement Method", "Final List", "Final Price", "Floating Rate Payer Calculation Amount", "Highest ", "Indicative Quotation", "Loan", "Movement Option Cut-off Date", "NOPS Amendment Notice", "Not Contingent", "Notice Delivery Period", "No Auction Announcement Date", "Notice of Physical Settlement", "Notice of Publicly Available Information", "Notice to Exercise Movement Option", "Notifying Party", "Obligation", "Physical Settlement Amount", "Physical Settlement Date", "Potential Repudiation/Moratorium", "Publicly Available Information", "Quotation", "Reference Entity", "Reference Obligation", "Repudiation/Moratorium", "Repudiation/Moratorium Extension Condition", "Repudiation/Moratorium Extension Notice", "Restructuring", "Substitute Reference Obligation", "Succession Event", "Succession Event Backstop Date", "Succession Event Notice", "Succession Event Resolution Request Date", "Successor", "Trade Date", "Transaction Auction Settlement Terms", "Transaction Type", "Valuation Date" and "Weighted Average Quotation" each have the meanings given to those terms in the Credit Derivatives Definitions. The terms ["Credit Event Resolution Request Date"](#), ["DC Resolution"](#), ["DC Secretary"](#), ["External Reviewer"](#), ["Initial List"](#), ["Relevant City Business Day"](#) and ["Website"](#) each have the meanings given to [or used for](#) those terms in the DC Rules.
- 1.2 The term "Acceptance Notice" means a Weekly Acceptance Notice or a TD Acceptance Notice, as the case may be.
- 1.3 The term "Acceptance Time" has the meaning set out in paragraph 4.5.
- 1.4 The term "Acceleration Supermajority" has the meaning set out in paragraph 6.3(d)(iv).
- 1.5 The term "Administrative Meeting" has the meaning set out in paragraph 6.8(j)(ii).
- 1.6 The term "Advocates" has the meaning set out in paragraph 6.8(k).
- 1.7 The term "Affected CDS Clearing Member" has the meaning set out in paragraph 11.4.
- [1.8](#) [The term "ANT Process" means the process \(if any\) provided or to be provided by DTCC \(currently known as the "Automated New Trade" process\) permitting the Clearing House alone to input to Deriv/SERV all relevant information in relation to a CDS Contract in order to establish, match and make "certain" the record of such CDS Contract in the relevant DTCC Account\(s\).](#)
- [1.9](#) ~~1.8~~-The term "Bilateral CDS Transaction Trade Date" has the meaning set out in the definition of Trade Date Clearing.
- [1.10](#) ~~1.9~~-The term "Brief" has the meaning set out in paragraph 6.8(o)(i).
- [1.11](#) ~~1.10~~-The term "CDS Committee-Eligible Clearing Member" means a Clearing Member that has been approved by the Clearing House, following consultation with the CDS Risk Committee, for participation in one or more Regional CDS Committees under paragraph 5 and in the CDS Default Committee. The Clearing House may revoke (or reinstate) its approval of any Clearing Member as a CDS Committee-Eligible Clearing Member from time to time based on its determination as to whether a particular Clearing Member has been in compliance with the Rules.
- [1.12](#) ~~1.11~~-The term "CDS Committee Procedures" means paragraph 6 of these Procedures.

- 1.13 ~~1.12~~ The term "CDS Default Committee" means a committee established pursuant to paragraph 5.1.
- 1.14 ~~1.13~~ The term "CDS Default Committee Member" has the meaning set out in paragraph 5.1.
- 1.15 ~~1.14~~ The term "CDS Default Committee Participant" has the meaning set out in paragraph 5.1.
- 1.16 ~~1.15~~ The term "CDS Default Committee Participant List" has the meaning set out in paragraph 5.2.
- 1.17 ~~1.16~~ The term "CDS Master Agreement" means, in relation to any CDS Contract between a CDS Clearing Member and the Clearing House, the Master Agreement between that CDS Clearing Member and the Clearing House.
- 1.18 ~~1.17~~ The term "CDS Region" means a region for which CDS Contracts are cleared by the Clearing House, as determined by the Clearing House.
- 1.19 ~~1.18~~ The term "CDS Regional Business Day" means, with respect to a CDS Region, any day determined in accordance with the location and other parameters designated by the Clearing House as a day on which the business of clearing CDS Contracts may occur in the particular CDS Region.
- 1.20 ~~1.19~~ The term "CDS Risk Committee" means the committee of that name established by the board of the Clearing House.
- 1.21 ~~1.20~~ The term "CEN Triggering Period" means, in relation to any CDS Contracts of a Set in respect of which a Restructuring Credit Event has occurred, the period during which, ~~in accordance with the Contract Terms,~~ a CDS Buyer or CDS Seller may deliver a Restructuring Credit Event Notice in relation to all or part of such CDS Contract, ~~such in accordance with the Contract Terms.~~ Such period starting will start on the earliest of ~~any of the following:~~
- (a) ~~with respect to a Set of CDS Contracts for which either "Restructuring Maturity Limitation and Fully Transferable Obligation Applicable" or "Modified Restructuring Maturity Limitation and Conditionally Transferable Obligation Applicable" is applicable, on the earlier of: the date and time at which the RMP Matched Table is uploaded to Deriv/SERV (as referred to in paragraph 8.4(e)(vi); and~~
 - ~~(i) the Business Day following publication of the Final List; and~~
 - ~~(ii) the tenth calendar day following the No Auction Announcement Date;~~
 - (b) ~~with respect to a Set of Sovereign Contracts or other Set of CDS Contracts for which neither "Restructuring Maturity Limitation and Fully Transferable Obligation Applicable" or "Modified Restructuring Maturity Limitation and Conditionally Transferable Obligation Applicable" is applicable, on the earlier of: the day after the RMP Deadline Time,~~
 - ~~(i) the Business Day following publication of the Final List; and~~
 - ~~(ii) the tenth calendar day following the No Auction Announcement Date; or~~
 - (c) ~~where a Regional CDS Committee Credit Event Announcement has occurred, the tenth calendar day following the date of the actual decision by the relevant Regional CDS Committee to Resolve that a Restructuring Credit Event has occurred for which there is Publicly Available Information, as described in paragraph 6.2(a)(iii);~~
- and ~~such period ending, in any case,~~ will end on the relevant Exercise Cut-off Date.
- 1.22 ~~1.21~~ The term "Chairperson" has the meaning set out in paragraph 6.1(d).

- ~~1.22 The term "**Clearing House DTCC Account**" means the account of the Clearing House at Deriv/SERV which is used by the Clearing House to hold records of all CDS Contracts between the Clearing House and CDS Clearing Members in the Production Accounts.~~
- 1.23 The term "**CLS**" means CLS Bank International or any successor thereto.
- 1.24 The term "**CM1**" has the meaning set out in paragraph 4.1.
- 1.25 The term "**CM2**" has the meaning set out in paragraph 4.1.
- 1.26 The term "**Committee Member**" has the meaning set out in paragraph 6.1(b).
- 1.27 The term "**Confidential Material**" has the meanings set out in paragraphs 5.8 and 6.12(a)(i).
- 1.28 The term "**Convened DC Voting Member**" has the meaning given to such term in the DC Rules as published by ISDA from time to time.
- 1.29 The term "**Covered Party**" has the meanings set out in paragraphs 5.8 and 6.12(a).
- 1.30 The term "**Customer Integration Date**" means the first date on which the restrictions in the Rules on the Clearing of Bilateral CDS Transactions and CDS Contracts for Customers cease to apply.
- 1.31 [The term "**DC Restructuring Announcement Date**" means the date on which the DC Credit Event Announcement of a Restructuring Credit Event is made, provided that where such DC Credit Event Announcement is made after 6.30 p.m. on a Business Day or on a day which is not a Business Day, the DC Restructuring Announcement Date \(only\) will, for the purposes of the Rules, be the first following Business Day.](#)
- 1.32 ~~1.31~~ The term "**DC Rules**" means the Credit Derivatives Determinations Committees Rules, as defined as the "Rules" in Section 1.22 of the Credit Derivatives Definitions. For the avoidance of doubt, the term "Rules" as defined in the Rules shall not replace, or otherwise affect the interpretation of, the term "Rules" in the Credit Derivatives Definitions.
- 1.33 ~~1.32~~ The term "**Dispute Resolution Panel**" has the meaning set out in paragraph 6.5(a).
- 1.34 ~~1.33~~ The term "**Dispute Resolver**" has the meaning set out in paragraph 6.5(b).
- 1.35 ~~1.34~~ The term "**DTCC**" means The Depository Trust and Clearing Corporation or any successor thereto.
- 1.36 [The term "**DTCC Accounts**" means the accounts in Deriv/SERV for the recording of transaction data in relation to CDS Contracts.](#)
- 1.37 ~~1.35~~ The term "**DTCC Failure**" means any circumstances in which DTCC is unable to process all or substantially all Restructuring Credit Event Notices [or Notices to Exercise Movement Option](#) relating to a particular Restructuring Credit Event in the ~~Triggering~~ [DTCC](#) Accounts in a timely manner, where such failure affects all or substantially all CDS Clearing Members or the Clearing House.
- 1.38 [The term "**DTCC Reversioning Date**" means the date on which DTCC completes its reversioning process in Deriv/SERV in respect of all Old Index CDS transactions to separate out, from the remainder, the component transaction relating to a Reference Entity in respect of which a Restructuring Credit Event has occurred.](#)
- 1.39 ~~1.36~~ The term "**Effectiveness Convention**" has the meaning set out in paragraph 6.3(g).
- 1.40 ~~1.37~~ The term "**Effectiveness Supermajority**" has the meaning set out in paragraph 6.3(d)(v).

- 1.41 The term "Electronic Notice" means an MP Notice which is a Restructuring Credit Event Notice or Notice to Exercise Movement Option delivered pursuant to the Electronic Notice Process.
- 1.42 ~~1.38~~ The term "Electronic Notice Process" means the process for the delivery and receipt of Restructuring Credit Event Notices and Notices to Exercise Movement Option pursuant to ~~paragraph~~paragraphs 8.4(~~e~~f)(~~vii~~vi) and ~~(viii)~~8.4(f)(ii).
- 1.43 ~~1.39~~ The term "Eligible Employee" has the meaning set out in paragraph 5.1.
- 1.44 ~~1.40~~ The term "Exhibits" has the meaning set out in paragraph 6.8(o)(ii).
- 1.45 ~~1.41~~ The term "Existing Supplements" has the meaning set out in paragraph 10.1(c).
- 1.46 ~~1.42~~ The term "External RMP" means all Matched Pairs matched and notified by the Clearing House pursuant to Rule 1508 other than Internal RMPs.
- 1.47 ~~1.43~~ The term "Fitch" has the meaning set out in paragraph 2.2(b).
- 1.48 ~~1.44~~ The term "Fungibility Date" has the meaning set out in paragraph 11.5(a).
- 1.49 ~~1.45~~ The term "Internal RMP" means a Matched Pair matched and notified by the Clearing House pursuant to Rule 1508 in which the same CDS Clearing Member is matched with itself, as a result of one CDS Sub-Account of a CDS Clearing Member being matched with another CDS Sub-Account of the same CDS Clearing Member.
- 1.50 ~~1.46~~ The term "Issue" has the meaning set out in paragraph 6.7(a).
- 1.51 ~~1.47~~ The term "Mandatory Voting Member" has the meaning set out in paragraph 6.4(a).
- 1.52 ~~1.48~~ The term "Manual CDS Clearing Member" has the meaning set out in paragraph ~~8.4(e)(ix)~~8.4.
- 1.53 ~~1.49~~ The term "Manual MP Notice" ~~has the meaning set out in paragraph 8.4(f)(ii)~~means an MP Notice delivered pursuant to the Manual Notice Process.
- 1.54 ~~1.50~~ The term "Manual Notice Process" means the process for the delivery, receipt and copying to the Clearing House of notices pursuant to paragraph 8.4(~~f~~g).
- 1.55 ~~1.51~~ The term "MCA/STS Changeover Time" means midnight on 29 November 2010.
- 1.56 ~~1.52~~ The term "Moody's" has the meaning set out in paragraph 2.2(b).
- 1.57 ~~1.53~~ The term "NEMO Triggering Period" means, in relation to any CDS Contracts of a Set in respect of which a Restructuring Credit Event has occurred and for which either "Restructuring Maturity Limitation and Fully Transferable Obligation Applicable" or "Modified Restructuring Maturity Limitation and Conditionally Transferable Obligation Applicable" is applicable, the period starting as follows:
- (a) where, in relation to the related CEN Triggering Period, a Restructuring Credit Event Notice was given pursuant to the Manual Notice Process at a time before the "Notify" function to be provided by Deriv/SERV has been made generally available to CDS Clearing Members, at 9 a.m. on the day falling one Business Day prior to the relevant Movement Option Cut-off Date for the Set of CDS Contracts ; and
- (b) otherwise at 9 a.m. on the Business Day immediately following the end of the related CEN Triggering Period.

and ending on the Movement Option Cut-off Date.

- 1.58 ~~1.54~~ The term "**New Trade**" has the meaning set out in paragraph 11.3(c)(i)(L).
- 1.59 ~~1.55~~ The term "**Notification Cut-Off Time**" means
- (a) (i) with respect to delivery of a Restructuring Credit Event Notice in relation to a CDS Contract of a Set ~~for which either "Restructuring Maturity Limitation and Fully Transferable Obligation Applicable" or "Modified Restructuring Maturity Limitation and Conditionally Transferable Obligation Applicable" is applicable and where:~~ 5:00 p.m. on the Exercise Cut-off Date;
- ~~(i)~~ ~~a No Auction Announcement Date has occurred which is applicable to such CDS Contracts pursuant to Section 12.12(b) of the Credit Derivatives Definitions on or prior to the Exercise Cut off Date, 4:30 p.m. on the Business Day immediately following the Exercise Cut off Date;~~
- ~~(ii)~~ ~~otherwise, 4:30 p.m. on the third Business Day immediately following the Exercise Cut off Date;~~
- (ii) with respect to raising a dispute in respect of a Restructuring Credit Event Notice in relation to a CDS Contract of a Set, the later of: (A) one hour after the Clearing House notifies the Clearing Members of the Restructuring Credit Event Notices they have served or had served on them; or (B) 7:00 p.m. on the Exercise Cut-off Date;
- (b) (i) with respect to delivery of a ~~Restructuring Credit Event~~ Notice ~~in relation to a Sovereign Contracts or other CDS Contracts of a Set for which neither "Restructuring Maturity Limitation and Fully Transferable Obligation Applicable" or "Modified Restructuring Maturity Limitation and Conditionally Transferable Obligation Applicable" is applicable, 4:30~~ to Exercise Movement Option, 5:00 p.m. on the ~~Business Day immediately following the Exercise~~ Movement Option Cut-off Date;
- ~~(e)~~ (ii) with respect to ~~delivery~~ raising a dispute in respect of a Notice to Exercise Movement Option, ~~4:30 p.m. on the Business Day following~~ the later of: (A) one hour after the Clearing House notifies the Clearing Members of the Notices to Exercise Movement Option they have served or had served on them; or (B) 7:00 p.m. on the Movement Option Cut-off Date; and
- (c) ~~(d)~~ with respect to delivery of a Notice of Physical Settlement or a NOPS Amendment Notice in relation to a Set of CDS Contracts, 4:30 p.m. on the second Business Day after the last date on which a Notice of Physical Settlement or a NOPS Amendment Notice, as applicable, may be served in respect of the Credit Event in question, pursuant to Section 3.2(c) of the Credit Derivatives Definitions.
- 1.60 ~~1.56~~ The term "**Old Index**" ~~has the meaning set out in paragraph 4.12.~~ CDS" means a CDS transaction based on an index where an applicable Credit Event has occurred in relation to a component transaction.
- 1.61 ~~1.57~~ The term "**Oral Argument**" has the meaning set out in paragraph 6.8(q).
- 1.62 ~~1.58~~ The term "**Original Notional Amount**", in relation to any CDS Contract, has the meaning given to that term in the Contract Terms.
- 1.63 ~~1.59~~ The term "**Panel Member**" has the meaning set out in paragraph 6.5(b).
- 1.64 ~~1.60~~ The term "**Permissible Deliverable Obligation**" means a Deliverable Obligation that satisfies Section 2.32(a) or 2.33(a) of the Credit Derivatives Definitions, if applicable.

- 1.65 ~~1.61~~ The terms "**Presented Position**" and "**Presented Positions**" have the meaning set out in paragraph 6.8(b).
- 1.66 ~~1.62~~ The term "**Primary Panel Member**" has the meaning set out in paragraph 6.6(b)(i).
- ~~1.63 The term "**Production Accounts**" means the accounts in Deriv/SERV for the recording of transaction data in relation to CDS Contracts but excluding the Triggering Accounts or accounts in the Deriv/SERV test environment.~~
- 1.67 ~~1.64~~ The term "**Provider**" has the meaning set out in paragraph 6.12(b).
- 1.68 ~~1.65~~ The term "**Quorum Majority**" has the meaning set out in paragraph 6.3(d)(i).
- 1.69 ~~1.66~~ The term "**Quorum Stage 2 Supermajority**" has the meaning set out in paragraph 6.3(d)(iii).
- 1.70 ~~1.67~~ The term "**Quorum Supermajority**" has the meaning set out in paragraph 6.3(d)(ii).
- 1.71 ~~1.68~~ The term "**Regional CDS Clearing Member**" means a CDS Clearing Member that is party to CDS Contracts relevant to a CDS Region.
- 1.72 ~~1.69~~ The term "**Regional CDS Committee**" has the meaning set out in paragraph 6.1(a).
- 1.73 ~~1.70~~ The term "**Regional CDS Committee Credit Event Announcement**" means with respect to a Reference Entity, an announcement by the Clearing House in a Circular that the relevant Regional CDS Committee has determined that an event that constitutes a Credit Event with respect to a CDS Contract and a Reference Entity (or an Obligation thereof) has occurred in accordance with paragraph 6.2(a)(iii) and has made the other determinations envisaged by that paragraph.
- 1.74 ~~1.71~~ The term "**Reimbursement Amount**" has the meaning set out in paragraph 6.8(l).
- 1.75 ~~1.72~~ The term "**Relevant CDS Default Committee Period**" has the meaning set out in paragraph 5.3.
- 1.76 ~~1.73~~ The term "**Relevant Period**" has the meaning set out in paragraph 6.6(b)(iii).
- 1.77 ~~1.74~~ The terms "**Resolve**", "**Resolved**" and "**Resolves**" have the meaning set out in paragraph 6.10(a) provided that in relation to a resolution of the Credit Derivatives Determinations Committee, such terms shall have the meaning given to them in the Credit Derivatives Definitions.
- 1.78 ~~1.75~~ The term "**Restructuring Matched Pair**" or "**RMP**" means a Matched Pair created pursuant to Rule 1508 in respect of a Restructuring Credit Event.
- 1.79 ~~1.76~~ The term "**Revocation Right**" will apply in respect of the submission of a Bilateral CDS Transaction for Clearing (a) if one of the Clearing Members for whose account the submission for Clearing is made is a Defaulter or (b) if and to the extent that either CDS Contract which would arise on Clearing would have been void under Rule 403 (if Rule 403 applied to CDS Contracts in addition to Energy Contracts) or capable of being treated as voidable under Rule 404(a) (if Rule 404(a) applied to CDS Contracts in addition to Energy Contracts and the latter being read for purposes of this definition as if the words "in relation only to Energy Contracts," were not set out in any part of Rule 404(a) and "Energy Clearing Members" were read as "CDS Clearing Members") or Rule 404(b).
- 1.80 ~~1.77~~ The term "**RMP Identifier**" means the unique alphanumeric identifier for each External RMP in the Production Accounts. **Deadline Time** means:
- (a) subject to (b) and (c) below, 11.59 p.m. on the latest of:
- (i) the fourth Business Day following the DC Restructuring Announcement Date;

- (ii) the third Business Day following the DTCC Reversioning Date, if any; and
 - (iii) the date of publication by ISDA of the Final List.
- (b) subject to (c) below, if a Regional CDS Committee Credit Event Announcement has occurred, 11.59 p.m. on the ninth calendar day following the date of the actual decision by the relevant Regional CDS Committee to Resolve that a Restructuring Credit Event has occurred for which there is Publicly Available Information, as described in paragraph 6.2(a)(iii);
- (c) either:
- (i) with respect to a Set of CDS Contracts for which either "Restructuring Maturity Limitation and Fully Transferable Obligation Applicable" or "Modified Restructuring Maturity Limitation and Conditionally Transferable Obligation Applicable" is applicable, if a No Auction Announcement Date has been announced pursuant to section 12.12(a) of the Credit Derivatives Definitions, the later of:
 - (A) 11.59 p.m. on the ninth calendar day following the No Auction Announcement Date; and
 - (B) the third Business Day following the DTCC Reversioning Date, if any; or
 - (ii) with respect to a Set of CDS Contracts for which neither "Restructuring Maturity Limitation and Fully Transferable Obligation Applicable" nor "Modified Restructuring Maturity Limitation and Conditionally Transferable Obligation Applicable" is applicable, if a No Auction Announcement Date has been announced pursuant to section 12.12 of the Credit Derivatives Definitions, the later of:
 - (A) 11.59 p.m. on the ninth calendar day following the No Auction Announcement Date; and
 - (B) the third Business Day following the DTCC Reversioning Date, if any.
- 1.81 The term "RMP Matched Table" means the data file, in computer-readable format, containing details of all RMPs, Matched Pairs and MP Amounts and the CDS Contracts and CDS Clearing Members to which they relate and reflecting the RMP Matching Reports, all in relation to the allocation of Matched Pairs pursuant to Rule 1508 following a Restructuring Credit Event.
- 1.82 The term "RMP Matching Report" means the report given by the Clearing House, as referred to in paragraph 8.4(e), to each CDS Clearing Member identifying the RMPs and allocations of Matched Pairs and the associated MP Amounts affecting the Open Contract Position of that CDS Clearing Member, which report comprises Matched Pair Notices for purposes of Rule 1508 in respect of each Matched Pair.
- 1.83 ~~1.78~~ The term "S&P" has the meaning set out in paragraph 2.2(b).
- 1.84 ~~1.79~~ The term "Single Name Contract" means a SNEC Contract or a Sovereign Contract, as the case may be.
- 1.85 ~~1.80~~ The term "SNEC Contract" has the meaning set out in paragraph 12.2(g).
- 1.86 ~~1.81~~ The term "Sovereign Contract" has the meaning set out in paragraph 13.2(g).
- 1.87 ~~1.82~~ The term "Standard Quorum Number" has the meaning set out in paragraph 6.3(b).
- 1.88 ~~1.83~~ The term "Submission Deadline" has the meaning set out in paragraph 6.8(j)(iii).

- 1.89 ~~1.84~~ The term "**Tax**" has the same meaning as that given to the term in the relevant Master Agreement.
- 1.90 ~~1.85~~ The term "**TD Acceptance Notice**" has the meaning set out in paragraph 4.4(a).
- 1.91 ~~1.86~~ The term "**Tier 1**" has the meaning given to that term in Banking Consolidation Directive.
- 1.92 ~~1.87~~ The term "**Trade Date Clearing**" means the submission of a Bilateral CDS Transaction on the date on which it is entered into (the "**Bilateral CDS Transaction Trade Date**"), provided that is a Business Day, or on the immediately following Business Day for Clearing on the day of submission.
- 1.93 ~~1.88~~ The term "**Trade Processing Platform**" means a person that has satisfied the Clearing House's requirements to act as an agent of one or more CDS Clearing Members in the submission of Bilateral CDS Transactions for Trade Date Clearing, including having entered into an agreement with the Clearing House to act as an "Approved CDS Trade Processing Platform" in relation to such submissions and, in relation to any CDS Clearing Member for which (and, as the case may be, for whose Affiliate) it acts as agent, has obtained that CDS Clearing Member's authorisation in writing to submit Bilateral CDS Transactions for Trade Date Clearing as agent for that CDS Clearing Member and accordingly, such a Trade Processing Platform will be a Representative of such CDS Clearing Member for that purpose until the expiry of not less than one Business Days' written notice to the Clearing House given by such CDS Clearing Member that such Trade Processing Platform is no longer, or is not, authorised to act as its agent and/or Representative. Where an Affiliate of a CDS Clearing Member may submit Bilateral CDS Transactions for the account of that CDS Clearing Member as referred to in paragraph 4.6, any person which, as a Trade Processing Platform, is a Representative of such CDS Clearing Member shall be deemed to be additionally a Representative of such Affiliate for these purposes.
- ~~1.89 The term "**Triggering Account**" means a sub-account of the Clearing House DTCC Account, where the transactions recorded in the account are produced through copying data in a Production Account at Deriv/SERV, which sub-account is used solely for the delivery and receipt of Restructuring Credit Event Notices and Notices to Exercise Movement Option between Matched Pairs pursuant to the Electronic Notice Process.~~
- 1.94 ~~1.90~~ The term "**Triggering Period**" means the CEN Triggering Period or NEMO Triggering Period, as applicable.
- 1.95 ~~1.91~~ The term "**Weekly Acceptance Notice**" has the meaning set out in paragraph 4.4(b).
- 1.96 ~~1.92~~ The term "**Written Materials**" has the meaning set out in paragraph 6.8(o).
- 1.97 ~~1.93~~ The term "**Weekly Clearing**" means the submission of a Bilateral CDS Transaction for Clearing other than pursuant to Trade Date Clearing.
- 1.98 ~~1.94~~ Capitalised terms used in these Procedures but not defined in this paragraph 1 shall have the meaning given to such terms in the Rules, the relevant CDS Contract (including Credit Derivatives Definitions and the Master Agreement as amended) or elsewhere in these Procedures (in that order of priority in the event of any conflict).
2. **ADDITIONAL MEMBERSHIP REQUIREMENTS FOR CDS CLEARING MEMBERS**
- 2.1 Rule 201(i) provides that CDS Clearing Members must meet such additional requirements applicable to CDS Clearing Members as are specified in the Procedures.
- 2.2 The following additional requirements are specified for the purposes of Rule 201(i):
- (a) It has a minimum of \$5 billion of Tier 1 Capital; provided that this requirement may, at the discretion of the Clearing House, be met by a Controller if such Controller provides a guarantee in accordance with the Finance Procedures.

- 2.3 If a Controller Guarantee has been provided, the Clearing Member to which the Controller Guarantee relates shall procure that the Controller:
- (a) at all times complies with the requirements of Rules 202(a)(iii), 202(a)(v), 202(a)(vi), 202(a)(x) and 202(a)(xiii) as if the Controller were a Clearing Member, *mutatis mutandis*;
 - (b) would not breach any of the requirements of Rule 203, were the Controller to be a Clearing Member subject to the requirements of Rules 203, *mutatis mutandis*; and
 - (c) makes all notifications that would be required under Rule 204 if the Controller were a Clearing Member, *mutatis mutandis*.

2.4 A CDS Clearing Member shall notify the Clearing House if any relevant rating falls below that specified in paragraph 2.2(b) or (c).

2.5 Clearing Members shall notify the Clearing House from time to time in accordance with the Procedures of details of an account at DTCC to which any cash settlement in respect of CDS Contracts are to be made.

3. OTHER PROCEDURES

3.1 The Finance Procedures, Membership Procedures, Business Continuity Procedures, Complaints Procedures and CDS Operational Procedures also apply in relation to CDS Contracts and to CDS Clearing Members.

4. SUBMISSION AND ACCEPTANCE OF CDS CONTRACTS

4.1 Any Bilateral CDS Transaction which is submitted to the Clearing House by a CDS Clearing Member via electronic means (including any Bilateral CDS Transaction forwarded to the Clearing House by Deriv/SERV or a Trade Processing Platform or other Representative on behalf of a Clearing Member (or its Affiliate as described in paragraph 4.6) shall be capable of giving rise to a CDS Contract under Rule 401(a)(ix). Deriv/SERV shall be treated as a Representative of the Clearing Member solely for the purposes of the submission of data relating to Bilateral CDS Transactions submitted for Weekly Clearing. Pursuant to Rule 401(a)(ix) and Rule 1502, if a Bilateral CDS Transaction is so submitted to the Clearing House by the parties thereto, each of which is a CDS Clearing Member ("CM1" and "CM2"), and is accepted by the Clearing House pursuant to an Acceptance Notice (and the other provisions of the Rules complied with): (i) CM1 will be deemed to have entered into a CDS Contract with the Clearing House as its counterparty rather than CM2; and (ii) CM2 will be deemed to have entered into a CDS Contract with the Clearing House as its counterparty in place of CM1. In each case, the CDS Contract will be on the Contract Terms specified in the Rules and Procedures. Rule 402(b) makes provision for the effect of this process on the rights, liabilities and obligations of CM1 and CM2 under the Bilateral CDS Transaction.

4.2 Only Clearing Members (including their duly appointed Representatives) may submit Bilateral CDS Transactions to the Clearing House provided that, where a Bilateral CDS Transaction is to be submitted for Trade Date Clearing, it must be submitted by the same Trade Processing Platform acting as duly appointed Representative on behalf of each of the Clearing Members who are party to the Bilateral CDS ~~Contract~~Transaction. Each Business Day, at the exact hours or during the time periods, as the case may be, from time to time fixed by the Clearing House for Weekly Clearing and Trade Date Clearing, respectively, CDS Clearing Members shall file with the Clearing House or its duly appointed Representatives confirmations, in the manner prescribed in the CDS Operational Procedures (which, in the case of electronic systems that submit matched Bilateral CDS Transactions to the Clearing House, shall be satisfied by confirmatory reports automatically generated by such system that contain the information set forth herein), covering Bilateral CDS Transactions submitted for Weekly Clearing or Trade Date Clearing, respectively, showing for each Bilateral CDS Transaction:

Contracts entered into between the Clearing House and any Clearing Member, regardless of whether any CDS Contract is based on any Bilateral CDS Transaction and regardless of any error. Following the issuance of a TD Acceptance Notice, the Clearing House will, using the ANT Process, promptly submit (for itself and for the Clearing Member which is its counterparty to the relevant CDS Contract) the terms of each new CDS Contract arising on Clearing to Deriv/SERV or another service specified by the Clearing House with identical terms as the original submission for clearing of the relevant Bilateral CDS Transaction (or the CDS Contracts specified in the TD Acceptance Notice, which shall prevail in the event of any conflict with the original submission for clearing) except for the substitution of the Clearing House as the counterparty to each of the Clearing Members and such other different terms as are set out in the Rules, these Procedures and the Contract Terms. In relation to any Bilateral CDS Transaction submitted for Trade Date Clearing ~~and only with respect to the novation of such trades~~ and the resulting creation of CDS Contracts resulting from a TD Acceptance Notice, each Clearing Member will suppress its own processes (and procure that its Representatives suppress their processes) for the submission of the terms of such Bilateral CDS Transaction to Deriv/SERV or another service specified by the Clearing House.

- (b) where it is submitted for Weekly Clearing, the Clearing House shall give notice (in a final trade status report or other report identified for the purpose) from time to time in accordance with this paragraph 4.4 (a "**Weekly Acceptance Notice**") to the Clearing Members submitting such Bilateral CDS Transaction specifying that the Clearing House proposes to accept a Bilateral CDS Transaction for Clearing if such Bilateral CDS Transaction is submitted in accordance with and meets the requirements established by the Rules and these CDS Procedures, provided that the Clearing House may decline to accept a Bilateral CDS Transaction for Clearing if it determines in good faith that, based on the exercise of prudent risk management standards, it should not accept such Bilateral CDS Transaction for Clearing or if it determines that a Revocation Right would apply in respect of such submission for Clearing. Subject to Part 4 of the Rules and this paragraph 4, a Weekly Acceptance Notice will result in the Clearing Member and the Clearing House entering into a CDS Contract at the Acceptance Time. A Weekly Acceptance Notice delivered after 4:00 p.m. on a Business Day or delivered on a day that is not a Business Day shall, unless otherwise notified by the Clearing House to the Clearing Member or otherwise stated in a Circular, be deemed to have been issued on the following Business Day. No Weekly Acceptance Notice shall result in any Contract arising pursuant to Rule 401(a)(ix) until the relevant Acceptance Time determined under paragraph 4.5. Each Clearing Member shall check each Weekly Acceptance Notice that concerns CDS Contracts that it is proposed to enter into at the Acceptance Time and shall promptly notify the Clearing House of any error of which it is aware such that the Weekly Acceptance Notice can be corrected and re-issued prior to the Acceptance Time. With effect as from the Acceptance ~~Time~~ Time and unless and until reissued pursuant to paragraph 4.4(f)(i), the Weekly Acceptance Notice shall be definitive as to any CDS Contracts entered into between the Clearing House and any Clearing Member, regardless of whether any CDS Contract is based on any Bilateral CDS Transaction and regardless of any error. Any Weekly Acceptance Notice may be revoked by the Clearing House (and not any third party) at the Clearing House's discretion at any time prior to the Acceptance Time but only if a Revocation Rights applies in respect of the related submission for Clearing. Following the issuance of a Weekly Acceptance Notice, each Clearing Member must promptly submit the terms of each new CDS Contract to Deriv/SERV or another service specified by the Clearing House with identical terms as the original submission for clearing of the relevant Bilateral CDS Transaction (or the CDS Contracts specified in the Weekly Acceptance Notice, which shall prevail in the event of any conflict with the original submission for clearing) except for the substitution of the Clearing House as the Clearing Member's counterparty and such other different terms as are set out in the Rules, these Procedures and the Contract Terms, adjusted to take into account netting, aggregation, terminations and replacements of CDS Contracts pursuant to Rule 406.

submit for Clearing, pursuant to the "Misclear" function made available to the Clearing Members by the Clearing House, a further Bilateral CDS Transaction for the purpose of cancelling (by netting) the continuing rights and obligations resulting from the error, but unless and until they do so, such Clearing Members shall be bound by the terms of the relevant CDS Contracts notwithstanding such error.

4.5 Rule 401(a)(ix) refers to a time to be specified pursuant to the Procedures for the acceptance of CDS Contracts ("**Acceptance Time**"). For CDS Contracts arising pursuant to Trade Date Clearing, the Acceptance Time shall be the time on a Business Day at which the TD Acceptance Notice was given. The Clearing House will include, in each TD Acceptance Notice, the time at which such notice is given. Such TD Acceptance Notice will be given by electronic message. For CDS Contracts arising pursuant to Weekly Clearing, the Acceptance Time shall be 12:01 a.m. on the calendar day following the Business Day on which the Weekly Acceptance Notice was given or deemed to be given, unless otherwise stated in a Circular or to any Clearing Member with prior notice in writing.

4.6

- (a) The Clearing House may accept the submission of Bilateral CDS Transactions for clearing for the account of a Clearing Member from a Representative of such Clearing Member that is an Affiliate of such Clearing Member or from a Trade Processing Platform as the Representative of such Affiliate; provided that such Affiliate is currently designated for this purpose as an authorised Representative of the Clearing Member in accordance with the Membership Procedures and such Trade Processing Platform is currently designated as a Representative of the Clearing Member.
- (b) Where a Bilateral CDS Transaction is recorded in the name of an Affiliate of a CDS Clearing Member and is submitted for Clearing to be recorded in the CDS Clearing Member's Proprietary Account:
 - (i) where Weekly Clearing applies, upon issuance of the relevant Acceptance Notice, the Clearing House is authorised by both CDS Clearing Members (in each case, for itself and, where applicable, on behalf of its Affiliate) to provide a termination notice to Deriv/SERV in respect of the Bilateral CDS Transaction;
 - (ii) where Weekly Clearing applies, the Clearing House will enter details of two new CDS Contracts in Deriv/SERV, one in the name of each of the CDS Clearing Members, and each of the CDS Clearing Members will enter details of the new CDS Contract to which it and the Clearing House is a party, in each case in accordance with the Procedures applicable to other Bilateral CDS Transactions;
 - (iii) each Clearing Member submitting a Bilateral CDS Transaction to which an Affiliate was party shall be responsible for ensuring that any give-up or novation agreements or back-to-back CDS transactions between it and its Affiliate come in to effect and are properly documented at the appropriate time;
 - (iv) for the avoidance of doubt, each relevant Affiliate, to the extent that it is a Customer of a Clearing Member which submitted the Bilateral CDS Transaction, shall be treated as a non-segregated Customer for purposes of the Rules and, accordingly, the Clearing House is not party to any Contract with the Affiliate and shall have no liability to the Affiliate;
 - (v) the Affiliate shall be deemed to be on notice of this provision and shall (in the absence of evidence of a contrary intention under the relevant Bilateral CDS Transaction) be deemed to agree to its application by the Affiliate's conduct in having the relevant Bilateral CDS Transaction submitted for Clearing, so that Rules 402(b) and 404 shall operate in respect of any rights, liabilities or obligations of the

- 4.12 Bilateral CDS Transactions ~~based on an index where an applicable Credit Event occurs in relation to a Component Transaction ("which are Old Index CDS")~~ shall cease to be eligible to be submitted for Clearing:
- (a) in the case of a Restructuring Credit Event, upon the earlier of:-
 - (i) close of business on the ~~date of publication of the Initial List (if any) relevant for the Component Transaction~~DC Restructuring Announcement Date; and
 - (ii) the close of business of the day on which a No Auction Announcement Date or a Regional CDS Committee Credit Event Announcement relevant to the Set in question occurs;
 - (b) in the case of a Failure to Pay Credit Event or a Bankruptcy Credit Event, if the Acceptance Notice would fall after the earlier of:-
 - (i) the close of business on the calendar day following the Auction Final Price Determination Date with respect to the Component Transaction; and
 - (ii) the close of business of the day on which an Auction Cancellation Date, a No Auction Announcement Date or a Regional CDS Committee Credit Event Announcement relevant to the Set in question occurs; or
 - (c) in any such case, such other time as is notified by the Clearing House in a Circular following consultation with the CDS Risk Committee.

In such circumstances, Bilateral CDS Transactions similar to the Old Index CDS but excluding the Component Transaction affected by the Credit Event will become available for Clearing when, following consultation with the CDS Risk Committee, the relevant Set is notified as available for Clearing by the Clearing House by Circular, which notification will be given as soon as reasonably practicable. For the avoidance of doubt, Bilateral CDS Transactions submitted for Clearing prior to the time specified in paragraphs 4.12(a) will be capable of being accepted for Clearing, notwithstanding any occurrence of an event referred to in paragraph 4.12(a) prior to the time of the relevant Acceptance Notice, subject always to paragraph 4.12(c) and the rest of this paragraph 4.

- 4.13 Bilateral CDS Transactions which would give rise to two Single Name Contracts on Clearing in respect of which an applicable Credit Event occurs in relation to the relevant Reference Entity shall cease to be eligible to be submitted for Clearing:
- (a) ~~For a SNEC Contract in~~In the case of a Restructuring Credit Event, upon the ~~earlier~~earliest of:-
 - (i) close of business on the ~~date of publication of the Initial List (if any) relevant for the SNEC Contract~~DC Restructuring Announcement Date, provided that Clearing House may, in consultation with the CDS Risk Committee, designate by Circular any later date; and
 - (ii) the close of business of the day on which a No Auction Announcement Date or a Regional CDS Committee Credit Event Announcement relevant to the Set in question occurs;
 - (b) ~~For a SNEC Contract in~~In the case of a Failure to Pay Credit Event or a Bankruptcy Credit Event, if the Acceptance Notice would fall after the earlier of:-
 - (i) ~~the close of business on the calendar day following the Auction Final Price Determination Date; and~~

- ~~(ii) the close of business of the day on which an Auction Cancellation Date, a No Auction Announcement Date or a Regional CDS Committee Credit Event Announcement relevant to the Set in question occurs; or~~
- ~~(e) For a Sovereign Contract in the case of a Restructuring Credit Event, upon the earlier of:-~~
 - ~~(i) close of business on the date of publication of the Initial List (if any) relevant for the Sovereign Contract; and~~
 - ~~(ii) the close of business of the day on which a No Auction Announcement Date or a Regional CDS Committee Credit Event Announcement relevant to the Set in question occurs;~~
- ~~(d) For a Sovereign Contract in the case of an Applicable Credit Event other than a Restructuring, if the Acceptance Notice would fall after the earlier of:-~~
 - (i) the close of business on the calendar day following the Auction Final Price Determination Date; and
 - (ii) the close of business of the day on which an Auction Cancellation Date, a No Auction Announcement Date or a Regional CDS Committee Credit Event Announcement relevant to the Set in question occurs; or
- (c) ~~(e)~~ in any such case, such other time as is notified by the Clearing House in a Circular following consultation with the CDS Risk Committee.

In the case only of a Restructuring Credit Event, such Bilateral CDS Transactions will again become eligible for Clearing if the Acceptance Notice would fall after:

- (i) close of business on the calendar day following the CDS Regional Business Day following the latest possible Exercise Cut-off Date for the Restructuring Credit Event; or
- (ii) such other time as is notified by the Clearing House in a Circular following consultation with the CDS Risk Committee.

For the avoidance of doubt, Bilateral CDS Transactions submitted for Clearing prior to the time specified in paragraphs 4.13(a) ~~or 4.13(e)~~ will be capable of being accepted for Clearing, notwithstanding any occurrence of an event referred to in any of paragraphs 4.13(a) ~~or 4.13(e)~~ prior to the time of the relevant Acceptance Notice, subject always to paragraph 4.13(ec) and the rest of this paragraph 4.

- 4.14 In relation to a Succession Event, if the Clearing House determines that any Bilateral CDS Transaction submitted for Clearing which would give rise to two CDS Contracts on Clearing would have been subject to a Succession Event but will no longer be subject to such Succession Event upon Clearing because of the Trade Date that would be specified with respect to the related CDS Contract, the Clearing House shall take such action as it deems necessary to ensure that such Succession Event is given effect with respect to such CDS Contracts arising on Clearing, including, without limitation, declining to accept such Bilateral CDS Transaction for Clearing or specifying an alternate Trade Date for purposes of Section 2.1 of the Credit Derivatives Definitions with respect to the relevant CDS Contract or portion thereof.
- 4.15 CDS Clearing Members shall use reasonable endeavours not to submit any Bilateral CDS Transaction which is not eligible for Clearing pursuant to paragraph 4.12 or 4.13 as at the time such Bilateral CDS Transaction is submitted for Clearing. Each CDS Clearing Member shall notify the Clearing House as soon as reasonably practicable if it is or becomes aware that any Bilateral CDS Transaction submitted by it for Clearing (but in respect of which no Acceptance Notice has become effective) is or becomes

- 7.5 If on or after the second anniversary of the Customer Integration Date, the value, determined in the same way in which the value of Guaranty Fund Contributions is calculated, of the assets constituting the Clearing House CDS GF Contribution is below the required amount of the Clearing House CDS GF Contribution because of a decrease in the value of assets representing such Clearing House CDS GF Contribution (excluding any decreases due to exchange rate fluctuations described in paragraph 7.9) or the application of any amount of Clearing House CDS GF Contribution pursuant to Rule 1103, the Clearing House shall be required, by the open of business on the following Business Day, to make additional Clearing House CDS GF Contributions sufficient to cause the assets constituting the Clearing House CDS GF Contribution to have a value, determined in the same way in which the value of Guaranty Fund Contributions is calculated but excluding the effects of any exchange rate fluctuations as aforesaid, of at least the required amount in EUR of the Clearing House CDS GF Contribution.
- 7.6 For the purposes of calculating the amount of any application of any amount of Clearing House CDS Contribution pursuant to Rule 1103, the value of the Clearing House CDS Contribution shall be determined in EUR as of the date of such application. Subject to paragraph 7.9, any deficiency of the actual Clearing House CDS Contributions relative to the required amounts at the time of application shall remain the liability of the Clearing House, notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Rules or Procedures.
- 7.7 The Clearing House may make withdrawals from accounts containing the Clearing House CDS Initial Contribution or Clearing House CDS GF Contribution only to the extent the value of the relevant assets exceeds the required EUR requirement. The Clearing House may substitute assets constituting the Clearing House CDS Contributions only to the extent that assets constituting Guaranty Fund Contributions may be substituted by Clearing Members.
- 7.8 The Clearing House shall have no obligation to contribute any additional Clearing House CDS Contributions in any situation in which final sentence of Rule 209(c) or the final sentence of Rule 209(f) applies in respect of any Clearing Member, except in either case in respect of any due and unpaid amounts at the time of such occurrence.
- 7.9 Notwithstanding any other provision of this paragraph 7, the Clearing House shall not be obliged to top up any amount or part of any Clearing House CDS Contribution as a result of fluctuations in currency exchange rates between USD and EUR compared to the rates at which any EUR requirement for any Clearing House CDS Contribution was calculated, whether to ensure that any Clearing House CDS Contribution equals any USD amount specified in this paragraph 7 or otherwise. Notwithstanding any other provision of this paragraph ~~7.7~~ the Clearing House shall not be entitled to withdraw any amount or part of any Clearing House CDS Contribution as a result of fluctuations in currency exchange rates between USD and EUR compared to the rates at which any EUR requirement for any Clearing House CDS Contribution was calculated, whether to ensure that any Clearing House CDS Contribution equals any USD amount specified in this paragraph 7 or otherwise.

8. CREDIT EVENTS AND PHYSICAL SETTLEMENT

8.1 General

- (a) This paragraph 8 (including any dispute referred to below) is subject to paragraph 6.

8.2 Not used.

8.3 Notices

- (a) MP Notices delivered between a Matched CDS Buyer, the Clearing House and a Matched CDS Seller shall be delivered in accordance with the terms of the CDS Contract, the Rules and these Procedures and, subject to this paragraph 8.3 and paragraph 8.4, Section 1.10 of the Credit Derivatives Definitions will apply to such notices. The Clearing House shall have no

responsibility to any CDS Clearing Member to verify in any manner the contents of any MP Notice received by it.

- (b) In addition to any changes or corrections permitted under the Credit Derivatives Definitions, if the Regional CDS Committee (or applicable Dispute Resolver), where it is entitled under paragraph 6.2(d) to do so, announces that it has Resolved that a particular obligation is not a Deliverable Obligation or, where relevant, a Permissible Deliverable Obligation in respect of a Set of Matched CDS Contracts, a CDS Buyer that has specified such Deliverable Obligation in its Notice of Physical Settlement or NOPS Amendment Notice for a Matched CDS Contract of such a Set shall have a single opportunity by notice in writing to the Clearing House, copied to the relevant CDS Seller in the Matched Pair, within three CDS Regional Business Days after the date of the relevant actual decision to Resolve (which shall be deemed to be the date of such announcement by the Regional CDS Committee and determined without regard to any Effectiveness Convention or any time of effectiveness specified in a Presented Position), to replace such Deliverable Obligation to the extent it has not been previously Delivered and the Clearing House will be deemed to have given written notice accordingly to such CDS Seller of equivalent changes in respect of any Notice of Physical Settlement or NOPS Amendment Notice it has (or is deemed to have) delivered.
- (c) In addition to the restrictions in Rule 1505, any purported delivery of a Notice to Exercise Movement Option outside the NEMO Triggering Period shall not amount to valid delivery of that notice and shall be disregarded by the Clearing House and Clearing Members.
- (d) The Clearing House will circulate, by e-mail to all relevant CDS Clearing Members prior to the start of the CEN Triggering Period: or, where Physical Settlement applies (other than following a Restructuring Credit Event) in accordance with Rule 1507, prior to 4: 30 p.m. on the tenth calendar day following either the No Auction Announcement Date, Auction Cancellation Date or the day on which a Regional CDS Committee Credit Event Announcement relevant to the Set in question occurs, as applicable:
 - (i) such details as it has received of CDS Clearing Members' address, fax number, telephone number, e-mail address and any other applicable notice details for the delivery of notices through the Manual Notice Process; and
 - (ii) the fax number and e-mail address of the Clearing House for the delivery of notices or copies or memoranda of notices through the Manual Notice Process or otherwise in connection with the Credit Event in question.

Manual MP Notices delivered by CDS Clearing Members to other CDS Clearing Members or copied to the Clearing House ~~pursuant to the Manual Notice Process or otherwise~~ and any other notices, notifications or communications (other than Electronic Notices) delivered to the Clearing House or any CDS Clearing Member in connection with the Credit Event in question must be made to the contact details specified in such e-mail.

8.4 Matched Pairs

- (a) Matched Pairs will not be allocated in respect of any CDS Contracts for which the applicable Settlement Method is "Auction Settlement" following the occurrence of any Applicable Credit Event other than Restructuring.
- (b)
 - (i) For any CDS Sub-Account where CDS Contracts are recorded on a "trade by trade" basis or a "gross" basis (as referred to in Rule 406(d)), CDS Contracts will be netted and/or aggregated (as if the CDS Sub-Account were held on a "net" basis) prior to

the processing of any Restructuring Credit Event so as to reflect the equivalent of an Open Contract Position in the relevant Set in respect of such CDS Sub-Account.

- (ii) ~~Following~~The Clearing House will, as soon as reasonably practicable following the completion of the process in paragraph 8.4(b)(i), use an algorithm ~~shall be used by the Clearing House~~ for purposes of allocating Matched Pairs under Rules 1507 and 1508. This algorithm shall minimise, to the extent reasonably practicable, each of the following:
- (A) the number of Matched Pairs in respect of which the MP Amount is less than EUR 1,000,000 (or in the case of Sovereign Contracts USD 1,000,000) (or such other amount as may be notified by the Clearing House by Circular, after consultation with the CDS Risk Committee) or not an integral multiple of such amount;
 - (B) the number of Matched Pairs into which an individual Clearing Member is matched, provided that the MP Amount for any Matched Pair shall not exceed EUR 50,000,000 (or in the case of Sovereign Contracts USD 10,000,000) (or such other amount as may be notified by the Clearing House by Circular, after consultation with the CDS Risk Committee) and further provided that this shall not preclude the same CDS Seller and CDS Buyer being matched with each other in respect of more than one Matched Pair;
 - (C) the overall number of Matched Pairs; and
 - (D) the number of, and notional amounts in, External RMPs.
- (c) For purposes of Rule 1507 and 1508, the Clearing House will allocate to each Matched Pair an MP Amount such that: (i) the sum of all MP Amounts of each CDS Buyer is equal to the aggregate Floating Rate Payer Calculation Amounts of such CDS Buyer in respect of all its CDS Contracts of such Set or Component Transactions of CDS Contracts of the same Set (as applicable); and (ii) the sum of all MP Amounts of each CDS Seller is equal to the aggregate of the Floating Rate Payer Calculation Amounts of such CDS Seller in respect of all its CDS Contracts of such Set or Component Transactions of CDS Contracts of the same Set (as applicable).
- (d) In the case of the allocation of Matched Pairs under Rule 1508, the Clearing House will, as soon as reasonably practicable after, but not earlier than the Business Day immediately following, the completion of the process in paragraph 8.4(b)(ii), provide to each CDS Clearing Member an RMP Matching Report which the Clearing House will treat as being in final form pursuant to paragraph 8.4(e)(iv), subject to the provisions of this paragraph 8.4(d). Each CDS Clearing Member to whom an RMP Matching Report is delivered shall check that the RMP Matching Report reflects their net Open Contract Position with the Clearing House in respect of each Set that is subject to the Restructuring Credit Event. Any CDS Clearing Member which believes that the RMP Matching Report does not so reflect their net Open Contract Position shall notify the Clearing House of the same as soon as possible. Any failure by a CDS Clearing Member to do so will result in any such error or apparent error not being addressed in the RMP Matching Report. For the avoidance of doubt, failure to notify the Clearing House of any error in a RMP Matching Report shall not, of itself, result in the relevant CDS Clearing Member accepting the accuracy of the contents of the RMP Matching Report. If an error is notified to or noticed by the Clearing House prior to the uploading of the RMP Matched Table as referred to in paragraph 8.4(e)(vi), the Clearing House will, provided that it has the time to do so, issue a replacement RMP Matching Report to any affected CDS Clearing Member.

(e) Matched Pair Notices.

- (i) If the Clearing House is obliged to issue Matched Pair Notices pursuant to Rule 1507 or 1508, it will endeavour to do so as soon as reasonably practicable after the latest date on which an Acceptance Notice would, in the ordinary course, be issued in respect of any Bilateral CDS Transactions relating to the relevant Set which had been submitted for Clearing before the relevant Set became ineligible for Clearing under paragraph 4.12 or 4.13 (as applicable).
- (ii) Matched Pair Notices may be delivered by the Clearing House by e-mail or fax or by posting to a secure section of the Clearing House's website which only the Clearing House and the relevant CDS Clearing Member may view, such that confidentiality (to the extent required under the Rules) is maintained. The Clearing House will give each CDS Clearing Member reasonable notice of any method of delivery to be used other than the Clearing House's secure website, unless a particular CDS Clearing Member and the Clearing House mutually agree upon an alternative form of notice being used. The Matched Pair Notice will be effective when received by, or available on the secure section of the Clearing House's website for inspection by, the relevant Clearing Member, as applicable.
- ~~(iii) (d) If the Clearing House is obliged to issue Matched Pair Notices pursuant to Rule 1507 or 1508, it will endeavour to do so as soon as reasonably practicable after the date of the last Acceptance Notice after the date on which new Bilateral CDS Transactions relating to the relevant Set become ineligible for Clearing under paragraph 4.12 or 4.13 (as applicable). The Clearing House shall issue Matched Pair Notices pursuant to Rule 1507 following an Applicable Credit Event other than a Restructuring Credit Event prior to 4:30 p.m. on the tenth calendar day following either the No Auction Announcement Date, Auction Cancellation Date or the day on which a Regional CDS Committee Credit Event Announcement relevant to the Set in question occurs, as applicable. The Clearing House shall issue Matched Pair Notices pursuant to Rule 1508 following a Restructuring Credit Event prior to 4:30 p.m. on the Business Day prior to the first day of the CEN Triggering Period. Such Matched Pair Notices may in either case be delivered by the Clearing House by e-mail or fax. If the Clearing House fails to issue Matched Pair Notices by the relevant deadline specified in this paragraph 8.4(d), any Credit Event Notices delivered by Clearing Members directly to the Clearing House after that time must be made by fax or e-mail to the contact details specified in accordance with paragraph 8.3(d).~~
- (iv) The Clearing House shall issue Matched Pair Notices to the CDS Clearing Members pursuant to Rule 1508 following a Restructuring Credit Event prior to the RMP Deadline Time, in the form of the RMP Matching Report for each CDS Clearing Member.
- (v) As soon as practicable after the issue of the RMP Matching Reports, the Clearing House will, for itself and for Clearing Members, terminate the records in the DTCC Accounts of all CDS Contracts which records are being replaced in accordance with the relevant RMP Matching Report and, using the ANT Process, input matching records of CDS Contracts in the DTCC Accounts as required by the Clearing House to reflect the creation of the RMPs shown by the RMP Matching Reports. Each relevant CDS Clearing Member shall cease to take any action which would result in any of the records of relevant CDS Contracts in the DTCC Accounts being amended after 12 noon on the day of the RMP Deadline Time, unless otherwise agreed with the Clearing House. The Clearing House and each relevant CDS Clearing Member shall use their best endeavours to rename trade identifiers in the DTCC Accounts appropriately and to ensure that the records of each affected CDS Contract to which it is party are "confirmed and certain" within the DTCC Accounts prior to that time.

If the records of CDS Contracts which are so input into the DTCC Accounts by the Clearing House using the ANT Process do not reflect the RMPs shown by the Matching Reports, the Clearing House will amend (and thereby correct) such records in the DTCC Accounts and may require the affected Clearing Members to make or confirm matching amendments to such records. Clearing Members will be bound by the records originally so input unless and until they are so amended.

(vi) The Clearing House shall, in the case of the allocation of Matched Pairs pursuant to Rule 1508, upload the RMP Matched Table to Deriv/SERV and issue confirmed RMP Matching Reports to CDS Clearing Members, setting out the details of the Matched Pairs that have been recorded in the DTCC Accounts, as soon as reasonably practicable but in any event not later than the RMP Deadline Time. The Clearing House and CDS Clearing Members recognise and acknowledge that in certain circumstances outside the control of the Clearing House, the CEN Triggering Period may be a period of fewer than five Business Days.

(vii) In accordance with and to the extent permitted under Rule 1505(b), if the Clearing House fails to issue Matched Pair Notices or the RMP Matching Reports and to upload the RMP Matched Table by the relevant time, being the RMP Deadline Time or the time specified in paragraph 8.4(e)(iii), as applicable, CDS Clearing Members may deliver Credit Event Notices, Notices to Exercise Movement Option, Notices of Physical Settlement and NOPS Amendment Notices (as applicable) directly to the Clearing House until such time as the Matched Pair Notices or, RMP Matching Reports, as applicable have been issued or the RMP Matched Table, as applicable, has been uploaded. Such notices must be made by fax or e-mail to the contact details specified in accordance with paragraph 8.3(d).

(f) ~~(e)~~ Electronic Notice Process for Restructuring Matched Pairs.

~~(i) Prior to the start of the Triggering Period, the Clearing House will ensure that there is a Triggering Account open for each CDS Clearing Member in a Restructuring Matched Pair. Subject to paragraphs 8.4(e)(vii), 8.4(f)(v), 8.4(f)(vi) and Rule 1505(b):~~

~~(ii) Prior to the start of the Triggering Period, the Clearing House will provide each relevant CDS Clearing Member with details of its Triggering Account, including relevant passwords entitling the CDS Clearing Member to have access through Deriv/SERV to such Triggering Account and the records contained therein.~~

~~(iii) Once details of Restructuring Matched Pairs have been notified by the Clearing House to CDS Clearing Members pursuant to Rule 1508, the Clearing House and relevant CDS Clearing Members will adjust the records of CDS Contracts in the Production Accounts as required by the Clearing House to reflect the creation of such Restructuring Matched Pairs.~~

~~(iv) The Clearing House and the relevant CDS Clearing Members, acting through their relevant CDS Sub Accounts to the extent necessary, will, on notification by the Clearing House of the Restructuring Matched Pairs as referred to in Rule 1508, delete from Deriv/SERV details of all CDS Contracts between the relevant CDS Clearing Member and the Clearing House to the extent that the Restructuring Matched Pairs in respect of such CDS Contracts are Internal RMPs. All CDS Contracts referable to such Internal RMPs shall at that time be terminated by operation of this provision, in respect of all future obligations (the consideration for the termination of the Matched CDS Buyer Contract forming part of the Matched CDS Contract to which the Internal RMP relates being the simultaneous termination of the related Matched CDS Seller Contract forming part of such Matched CDS~~

~~Contract). Thereafter such Internal RMPs shall not be or be treated as Restructuring Matched Pairs or CDS Contracts for the purposes of the Rules or Procedures. Each CDS Clearing Member which is notified of an Internal RMP undertakes to reflect any internal departmental or between-branch payment flows or other arrangements resulting from such Internal RMP in its own internal systems to the extent that it considers this to be appropriate or necessary.~~

- ~~(v) Prior to the start of the Triggering Period, the Clearing House will create copies of the records of each External RMP in the Triggering Account of each relevant CDS Clearing Member, each such External RMP being identified in the relevant Triggering Account by reference to a serial number which enables CDS Clearing Members to map External RMPs to their CDS Sub Accounts if they so wish. Triggering Accounts shall not give rise to the creation of any additional CDS Contracts or the duplication of any existing CDS Contracts.~~
- ~~(vi) Subject to paragraphs 8.4(c)(ix) and 8.4(c)(x):~~
- (A) a CDS Clearing Member may only deliver Restructuring Credit Event Notices and Notices to Exercise Movement Option in relation to an ~~External~~ RMP in respect of which it is the Matched CDS Buyer or Matched CDS Seller ~~as an Electronic Notice~~ through Deriv/SERV ~~by in accordance with the specific procedures of DTCC which are provided for the~~ delivery of such ~~notice~~notices through the ~~Triggering Account~~DTCC Accounts; and
- (B) any Restructuring Credit Event Notice or Notice to Exercise Movement Option delivered ~~in relation to any External RMP through the Production Accounts~~otherwise than in accordance with such procedures as an Electronic Notice will be invalid and ineffective.
- ~~(ii) (vii) Subject to paragraphs 8.4(c)(ix) and 8.4(c)(x), a Restructuring Credit Event Notice or Notice to Exercise Movement Option~~The Clearing House and each CDS Clearing Member acknowledge that, subject to paragraph 8.4(f)(vi), an Electronic Notice delivered by a CDS Clearing Member ~~through its Triggering Account to the Clearing House~~ in relation to ~~an External RMP a Matched CDS Buyer Contract or a Matched CDS Seller Contract~~ recorded ~~in its Triggering~~DTCC Account ~~will,~~ provided that it is delivered within the time limits set for such delivery by the Contract Terms and otherwise satisfies the requirements of the Contract Terms and is submitted properly in accordance with the applicable regulations, rules and procedures of Deriv/SERV, ~~be effective as~~is intended to result in a corresponding Electronic Notice being created by Deriv/SERV and delivered (and such corresponding Electronic Notice will be deemed to have been created and delivered) on behalf of the Clearing House to the other CDS Clearing Member in respect of the Matched CDS Seller Contract or Matched CDS Buyer Contract, as applicable, in the same Matched Pair.
- (A) ~~a delivery of such Restructuring Credit Event Notice or Notice to Exercise Movement Option (as applicable) by such CDS Clearing Member to the Clearing House in respect of the Matched CDS Buyer Contract or Matched CDS Seller Contract (as the case may be) between such CDS Clearing Member and the Clearing House forming part of the Matched CDS Contract to which such External RMP relates; and~~
- (B) ~~a delivery of such Restructuring Credit Event Notice or Notice to Exercise Movement Option (as applicable) by the Clearing House to the other CDS Clearing Member forming the relevant Restructuring Matched Pair in respect of the Matched CDS Seller Contract or Matched CDS Buyer~~

~~Contract (as the case may be) between such CDS Clearing Member and the Clearing House forming part of the Matched CDS Contract to which such External RMP relates.—~~

~~The time of delivery of any Restructuring Credit Event Notice or Notice to Exercise Movement Option shall be the time at which DTCC records the Restructuring Credit Event Notice or Notice to Exercise Movement Option, as applicable, as having been delivered both such Electronic Notices in respect of both the Matched CDS Buyer Contract and Matched CDS Seller Contract which are subject of the same Matched Pair shall be deemed to be the same and shall be the time that DTCC records as being the time at which the first Electronic Notice was delivered. An Electronic Notice which is or is deemed to be validly delivered in accordance with these CDS Procedures shall be treated as valid delivery of a Restructuring Credit Event Notice or Notice to Exercise Movement Option for purposes of the Credit Derivatives Definitions and Contract Terms of the relevant CDS Contract. CDS Clearing Members and the Clearing House will not have any rights or be subject to any obligations under Rules 1509(a)-(b) in relation to Electronic Notices and shall be under no obligations under the first two sentences of Rule 1509(d) in relation to Electronic Notices.~~

- (iii) ~~If, but only if, the Clearing House has received, before the end of the relevant Triggering Period, either (A) the notice required under paragraph 8.4(f)(v)(B)(2) from any CDS Clearing Member or (B) a notification of a DTCC Failure, as referred to in paragraph 8.4(f)(vi), then, by 6:00 p.m. on each day of the relevant Triggering Period, the Clearing House will provide CDS Clearing Members with a report containing details of Electronic Notices that have been delivered by or to it, with a separate report or combined report also including details of any Manual MP Notices that have been delivered by it or to it and notified to the Clearing House. Without prejudice to the generality of paragraph 8.4(f)(x), if the contents of any such report are disputed, paragraph 8.4(g)(iv) applies.~~
- (iv) ~~(viii) The Clearing House will provide CDS Clearing Members with a daily report during the Triggering Period with details of Restructuring Credit Event Notices and Notices to Exercise Movement Option that have been delivered by or to it pursuant to the Electronic Notice Process, with a separate report or combined report also including details of Restructuring Credit Event Notices and Notices to Exercise Movement Option that have been delivered by it or to it and notified to the Clearing House pursuant to the Manual Notice Process. Without prejudice to the generality of paragraph 8.4(e)(xiv), if the contents of any such report are disputed, paragraph 8.4(f)(iv) applies.—At the end of the~~At the end of each Triggering Period, the Clearing House and, where necessary, each CDS Clearing Member, to the extent that it has all necessary information, will, where such records have not already been adjusted to the following effect by DTCC, adjust the records in the ~~Production~~DTCC Accounts of the Matched CDS Contracts to which the ~~External~~RMPs relate to reflect any Restructuring Credit Event Notices and Notices to Exercise Movement Option (and the consequences of such notices) delivered in relation to those ~~External~~RMPs ~~at~~during the ~~end of the~~relevant Triggering Period (including delivery pursuant to the Manual Notice Process), including, where appropriate, sub-dividing such Matched CDS Contracts to reflect Triggered Restructuring CDS Contract Portions, pursuant to Section 3.9 of the Credit Derivatives Definitions. ~~If the Manual Notice Process has been used by the CDS Clearing Member, after the end of the Triggering Period, To the extent that~~ the Clearing House and ~~relevant~~any CDS Clearing ~~Members will also~~Member do in fact have to adjust ~~the records in the Production Accounts of the Matched CDS Contracts to which the External RMPs relate to reflect any Restructuring Credit Event Notices and Notices to Exercise Movement Option (and the consequences of such notices) delivered in relation to those External RMPs~~

~~pursuant to the Manual Notice Process, in accordance with paragraph 8.4(f). After any such records in the DTCC Accounts at the end of the CEN Triggering Period or NEMO Triggering Period, whichever is the later, and once the process as set out above in this paragraph 8.4(e)(viii) is complete and the Production Accounts have been fully updated, the records in the Triggering Accounts will serve only as a historical record of the service of notices. No settlement of any CDS Contracts will take place through the Triggering Accounts, the Clearing House will update the RMP Matched Table to reflect such adjustments. The Clearing House and the relevant CDS Clearing Members will, where necessary, take such operational steps as are necessary in respect of the DTCC Accounts such that any Triggered Restructuring CDS Contract Portion in respect of which they have adjusted the records, as referred to above, so that such Triggered Restructuring CDS Contract Portion settles through the same processes as the Triggered Restructuring CDS Contract Portions for which the relevant Restructuring Credit Event Notices and Notices to Exercise Movement Option (if any) were delivered through the Electronic Notice Process.~~

(v) Rights and obligations to use the Manual Notice Process.

(A) ~~(ix)~~ In addition to ~~as~~ the circumstances set out in paragraph 8.4(e)(~~vi~~), a CDS Clearing Member (a "Manual CDS Clearing Member") shall be entitled to deliver Restructuring Credit Event Notices and Notices to Exercise Movement Option pursuant to the Manual Notice Process only if it is affected by a significant communications or information technology failure resulting in it being impossible or impractical for such CDS Clearing Member to deliver all or substantially all Restructuring Credit Event Notices or Notices to Exercise Movement Option (as applicable) in accordance with the Electronic Notice Process.

(B) If a CDS Clearing Member delivers any Restructuring Credit Event Notice or Notices to Exercise Movement Option (as applicable) in accordance with the Manual Notice Process then:

(1) ~~(A)~~ it will be deemed to represent to the Clearing House that it is affected by a significant communications or information technology failure resulting in it being impossible or impractical for such CDS Clearing Member to deliver all or substantially all Restructuring Credit Event Notices or Notices to Exercise Movement Option (as applicable) in accordance with the Electronic Notice Process;

(2) ~~(B)~~ it must deliver a notice, in or substantially in the form provided by the Clearing House on the Clearing Member-accessible section of its website for such purpose, signed by a senior officer (such as managing director or equivalent) of such CDS Clearing Member to the Clearing House, certifying only that it is affected by a significant communications or information technology failure resulting in it being impossible or impractical for it to deliver all or substantially all Restructuring Credit Event Notices or Notices to Exercise Movement Option (as applicable) in accordance with the Electronic Notice Process and that it has delivered one or more Restructuring Credit Event Notices or Notices to Exercise Movement Option (as applicable) in accordance with the Manual Notice Process, such notice to be delivered promptly and, in any event, within 1 hour of ~~its~~ such CDS Clearing Member's first ~~doing~~ so delivering a Restructuring Credit Event Notice or Notice to Exercise Movement Option in respect of any Restructuring Credit

Event (but the CDS Clearing Member shall not be required to provide a copy of any Restructuring Credit Event Notices or Notices to Exercise Movement Option (as applicable) until the time specified in paragraph 8.4(~~f~~g));

- (3) ~~(C)~~ the Clearing House will (~~4~~x) publish a Circular as soon as reasonably practicable after receiving a notice pursuant to paragraph 8.4(~~ef~~(~~ix~~y)(B)(2) which will name the CDS Clearing Member involved, refer to such CDS Clearing Member as having been subject to a significant communications or information technology failure and specify any amended timelines applicable for the processing of the Restructuring Credit Event in question and (~~2~~y) notify all CDS Clearing Members of the name of the Manual CDS Clearing Member by fax or e-mail within 1 hour;
- (4) ~~(D)~~ the CDS Clearing Member must use reasonable endeavours to mitigate the effects on other CDS Clearing Members and the Clearing House of it using the Manual Notice Process, with reference to the principle that it is operationally simpler for all CDS Clearing Members to use the Electronic Notice Process and shall use reasonable endeavours to minimise the number of notices it delivers pursuant to the Manual Notice Process;
- (5) ~~(E)~~ the CDS Clearing Member must revert to using the Electronic Notice Process (and cease using the Manual Notice Process) as soon as reasonably practicable;
- (6) ~~(F)~~ the CDS Clearing Member must take reasonable endeavours to ensure that the communications or information technology issue does not recur; and
- (7) ~~(G)~~ if a separate significant communications or information technology failure occurs in respect of the same Restructuring Credit Event, this paragraph 8.4(~~ef~~(~~ix~~y) shall apply in full in respect of that separate failure.

(C) Where, as a consequence of a Restructuring Credit Event Notice being delivered pursuant to the Manual Notice Process, the records of the relevant Triggered Restructuring CDS Contract Portion(s) in the DTCC Accounts are not the same as the records thereof held by the Clearing House: (1) the Clearing House and the two relevant CDS Clearing Members in the Matched Pair will use all reasonable endeavours to reconcile the records as soon as possible; and (2) if agreement as to such reconciliation has not been reached within two Business Days of the Clearing House first notifying the two CDS Clearing Members involved of the inconsistency between the two sets of records, the matters will be resolved as disputes between the Clearing House and each of the two affected CDS Clearing Members in accordance with Paragraph 8.4(g)(ix) to (xii).

(D) Any CDS Clearing Member in a Restructuring Matched Pair with a Manual CDS Clearing Member must continue to use the Electronic Notice Process unless this paragraph 8.4(~~ef~~(~~ix~~y) separately applies to it. For the avoidance of doubt, and without prejudice to the Clearing House's rights under Part 10 of the Rules or for breach of contract or misrepresentation, any breach by a Clearing Member of the provisions of this paragraph 8.4(~~ef~~(~~ix~~y) shall not cause any Restructuring Credit Event Notice or Notice to Exercise

Movement Option delivered otherwise in accordance with the Contract Terms to be invalid or ineffective.

- (vi) ~~(x)~~ If DTCC notifies the Clearing House that there has been a DTCC Failure:
- (A) the Clearing House will (1) publish a Circular as soon as reasonably practicable after receiving such notice stating that a DTCC Failure has occurred, specifying a time (the "**DTCC Failure Time**") at which such DTCC Failure occurred and which may specify any amended timelines applicable for the processing of the Restructuring Credit Event in question and (2) notify all CDS Clearing Members of the DTCC Failure by fax or e-mail within 1 hour;
 - (B) from and including the DTCC Failure Time to but excluding the DTCC Resolution Time (as defined below), the Electronic Notice Process shall cease to be applicable and CDS Clearing Members may only deliver and receive Restructuring Credit Event Notices and Notices to Exercise Movement Option (as applicable) in accordance with the Manual Notice Process;
 - (C) the validity of any Restructuring Credit Event Notices and Notice to Exercise Movement Option (as applicable) delivered in accordance with the Electronic Notice Process prior to the DTCC Failure Time will not be affected by the DTCC Failure; and
 - (D) all Restructuring Credit Event Notices and Notices to Exercise Movement Option (as applicable) delivered or purported to be delivered in accordance with the Electronic Notice Process at or after the DTCC Failure Time to but excluding the DTCC Resolution Time will not be valid.

If, subsequent to a DTCC Failure, DTCC notifies the Clearing House that the DTCC Failure is no longer in effect:

- (1) the Clearing House will (x) publish a Circular as soon as reasonably practicable after receiving such notice stating the DTCC Failure is no longer in effect and specifying the time at which the Electronic Notice Process is to become available (the "**DTCC Resolution Time**") which time must be at least 30 minutes following the time of publication of the Circular but may be as late as 9 a.m. on a Business Day following the date of the Circular and (y) notify all CDS Clearing Members of the same by fax or e-mail within 1 hour; and
- (2) subject to paragraph 8.4(e)(~~x~~y), as from the DTCC Resolution Time, CDS Clearing Members must cease delivering Restructuring Credit Event Notices and Notices to Exercise Movement Option (as applicable) pursuant to the Manual Notice Process and must instead deliver Restructuring Credit Event Notices and Notices to Exercise Movement Option (as applicable) in accordance with the Electronic Notice Process.

- (vii) ~~(xi)~~ If a Restructuring Credit Event Notice or Notice to Exercise Movement Option is delivered between a Matched Pair in accordance with the Electronic Notice Process and a separate Restructuring Credit Event Notice or Notice to Exercise Movement Option is delivered as between the same Matched Pair in accordance with the Manual Notice Process, then, subject to paragraph 8.4(e)(~~x~~iiiii), the validity or

priority of any such Restructuring Credit Event Notice or Notice to Exercise Movement Option in the event of any conflict will be determined in accordance with the Contract Terms.

- (viii) ~~(xii)~~ If the Manual Notice Process is applicable, and a CDS Clearing Member is uncertain as to whether or not a Restructuring Credit Event Notice or Notice to Exercise Movement Option (as applicable) it attempted to deliver under the Electronic Notice Process has actually been delivered, or was delivered prior to the DTCC Failure Time, that CDS Clearing Member shall be entitled to deliver a Restructuring Credit Event Notice or Notice to Exercise Movement Option (as applicable) pursuant to the Manual Notice Process to its Restructuring Matched Pair (copied to the Clearing House) specifying that such Restructuring Credit Event Notice or Notice to Exercise Movement Option (as applicable) is only to be effective to the extent that the other purported notice was not effective, provided that sufficient details are included of the notice attempted to be made under the Electronic Notice Process to allow the other party to the Restructuring Matched Pair and the Clearing House to identify the communications concerned. If the first Restructuring Credit Event Notice or Notice to Exercise Movement Option (as applicable) to which the attempted delivery related was actually delivered, then any subsequent Restructuring Credit Event Notice or Notice to Exercise Movement Option delivered in accordance with the requirements of this paragraph 8.4(e)(~~xii~~viii) shall be treated as not having been delivered.
- (ix) ~~(xiii)~~ If any Restructuring Credit Event Notice or Notice to Exercise Movement Option (as applicable) is delivered pursuant to the Manual Notice Process, CDS Clearing Members shall not re-enter details of that Restructuring Credit Event Notice or Notice to Exercise Movement Option (as applicable) pursuant to the Electronic Notice Process (without prejudice to the obligation of CDS Clearing Members to reflect such notices pursuant to the "Notify" function made available by Deriv/SERV). Any delivery of a second Restructuring Credit Event Notice in such a manner shall be treated as delivery of an additional and separate Restructuring Credit Event Notice between the Restructuring Matched Pair. Any delivery of a second Notice to Exercise Movement Option for the same Triggered Restructuring CDS Contract Portion in such a manner shall be disregarded.
- (x) ~~(xiv)~~ Paragraphs 8.4(~~g~~)(iv), (ix), (x), (xi), (xii) and (xiii) (in the latter case in relation to disputes falling under paragraph 8.4(~~g~~)(xiii)(B) only) shall apply to notices delivered pursuant to the Electronic Notice Process in the same way as such paragraphs apply to notices under the Manual Notice Process.
- ~~(xv) The timing for processing of Restructuring Credit Event Notices or Notices to Exercise Movement Option (as applicable) after the end of the Triggering Period shall be the same as for the Manual Notice Process, in order to allow for any deliveries to the Clearing House of copies or memoranda of notices pursuant to the Manual Notice Process to be made after the end of the Triggering Period in the same way and pursuant to the same deadlines as for the Manual Notice Process.~~
- (xi) ~~(xvi)~~ For the avoidance of doubt, the Electronic Notice Process does not apply to Notices of Physical Settlement or NOPS Amendment Notices.
- (g) ~~(f)~~ Manual Notice Process.

The parties to a Matched Pair must only use the Manual Notice Process to deliver (1) MP Notices that are Restructuring Credit Event Notices and Notices to Exercise Movement Option where permitted by paragraphs 8.4(e)(~~ix~~) or 8.4(e)(~~xvi~~); ~~and~~ (2) Notices to Exercise Movement Option where permitted by paragraph 8.4(g)(xi); and (3) Notices of Physical

Settlement and NOPS Amendment Notices. ~~A Restructuring Credit Event Notices and Notices~~ Notice or Notice to Exercise Movement Option delivered other than by the Electronic Notice Process will only be valid and effective if ~~(x) it is in or substantially in the form (or in the case of a telephone notice, contains the information required by the form) provided by the Clearing House on the section of its website accessible to Clearing Members for such purpose and (y) it is~~ delivered by fax, e-mail or ~~phone~~ telephone to the relevant contact address or number specified in accordance with paragraph 8.3(d). Any memorandum of a notice given by telephone must also be in such form. The form of such notices provided by the Clearing House shall not include wording setting out any of the representations made automatically pursuant to paragraph 8.4(f)(v)(B). Notices of Physical Settlement and NOPS Amendment Notices between a Matched CDS Buyer and Matched CDS Seller in a Matched Pair pursuant to Rule 1509 may be delivered in any manner permitted for delivery of such notice in accordance with the terms of the CDS Contract and will only be valid and effective if delivered to the relevant contact address, fax number, telephone number or e-mail address provided in accordance with paragraph 8.3(d) (or as otherwise agreed between the parties in the Matched Pair and the Clearing House). Notwithstanding any provision of the terms of the CDS Contract, any notice under a Matched CDS Contract which is required to be copied or given to the Clearing House in accordance with the Rules must be copied or given to the Clearing House in writing or in any other manner permitted by the Clearing House.

On each day on which ~~ana Manual~~ MP Notice is served ~~pursuant to the Manual Notice Process:~~

- (i) Each Manual MP Notice ~~delivered by the Manual Notice Process~~ shall be effective in accordance with Section 12 of the CDS Master Agreement, subject to this paragraph 8.4(~~fg~~) and Section 1.10 of the Credit Derivatives Definitions. Rule 1509 applies in full in respect of each Manual MP Notice.
- (ii) Each CDS Clearing Member in receipt of ~~an MP Notice delivered other than by the Electronic Notice Process (each a "a Manual MP Notice")~~ or which has served a Manual MP Notice shall deliver a copy of such Manual MP Notice (if it was a written notice) or a written memorandum of such Manual MP Notice (if it was oral) to the Clearing House at or prior to ~~45:3000~~ 4:30 p.m. on the day on which the Manual MP Notice was served or purported to be served. Failure to deliver such a copy or written memorandum of a Manual MP Notice to the Clearing House shall not of itself result in the Manual MP Notice being invalid.
- (iii) The Clearing House shall deliver copies of each copy or memorandum of a Manual MP Notice received by it under and in accordance with paragraph 8.4(~~fg~~)(ii) to both CDS Clearing Members in each relevant Matched Pair at or prior to 6:00 p.m. on the day on which the copy or memorandum was delivered to it.
- (iv) If a CDS Clearing Member wishes to dispute any Manual MP Notice of which a copy or a memorandum was delivered to it by the Clearing House under paragraph 8.4(~~fg~~)(iii) (or, to the extent that this paragraph 8.4(~~fg~~)(iv) is applicable pursuant to paragraph 8.4(~~ef~~)(~~xiv~~)), wishes to dispute a Credit Event Notice or Notice to Exercise Movement Option referred to in a ~~daily~~ report under paragraph 8.4(~~ef~~)(~~viii~~)), that CDS Clearing Member must inform the Clearing House of the existence of the dispute prior to the Notification Cut-off Time, and will use reasonable endeavours to inform the Clearing House within 1 hour of the time at which the report, copy or memorandum (in which the disputed notice is referred to) is first delivered to it by the Clearing House.

~~(v) [Not used].~~

- (v) ~~(vi)~~ Subject to paragraph 8.4(fg)(ix) below, neither the failure of any CDS Clearing Member to deliver a copy or memorandum of a Manual MP Notice to the Clearing House nor the failure of the Clearing House to deliver a copy or memorandum of a Manual MP Notice to any CDS Clearing Member of itself shall result in any notice under a CDS Contract being invalid.
- (vi) ~~(vii)~~ Notwithstanding any breach of paragraph 8.4(fg)(ii) and without prejudice to any liabilities resulting from such breach, a CDS Clearing Member shall inform the Clearing House as soon as practicable upon becoming aware that a copy or memorandum of any Manual MP Notice was not delivered to the Clearing House on time, providing a copy or memorandum of such Manual MP Notice.
- (vii) To the extent that they are able to do so, the CDS Clearing Members in a Restructuring Matched Pair where one has delivered to the other a Restructuring Credit Event Notice or a Notice to Exercise Movement Option pursuant to the Manual Notice Process shall reflect the delivery and receipt of such notices using the "Notify" function provided by Deriv/SERV.
- (viii) Where neither CDS Clearing Member in a Matched Pair deliver a copy or memorandum of a Manual MP Notice to the Clearing House until after the Notification Cut-off Time;
- (A) ~~If~~ such CDS Clearing Members do not dispute that such notice was delivered between themselves correctly in accordance with the Contract Terms (excluding this paragraph 8.4(f)), ~~the Clearing House will permit the parties to settle the relevant CDS Contracts through the clearing system as if the notice had been copied to the Clearing House before the Notification Cut-off Time, provided that the Clearing House is notified of the notice prior to 4:30 p.m. on the Business Day prior to the DTCC event processing end date (as determined by DTCC for the Credit Event in question). With respect to Restructuring Credit Event Notices or Notices to Exercise Movement Option, the Clearing House shall only permit such settlement in relation to 3 CDS Contracts per CDS Clearing Member per Restructuring Credit Event. Once all 3 allocations have been used~~, the CDS Clearing Members may either agree to settle directly with each other under Rule 1514 (CDS Alternative Delivery or Settlement Procedure, read for purposes of this paragraph 8.4(fg)(viii)(A) only as if Rule 1514 applied to auction and cash settlement in addition to physical settlement) or, without such agreement, pursue a claim against each other in accordance with paragraphs 8.4(fg)(ix) to 8.4(fg)(xiii); and
- (B) ~~If~~ such CDS Clearing Members do dispute that such notice was delivered between themselves correctly in accordance with the Contract Terms (excluding this paragraph 8.4(fg)), paragraphs 8.4(fg)(ix) to 8.4(fg)(xiii) shall apply.
- (ix) Any dispute between any CDS Clearing Members in a Matched Pair or between any CDS Clearing Member in a Matched Pair and the Clearing House in relation to the effectiveness of any MP Notice or the issue of whether any MP Notice was served shall be resolved by arbitration under Rule 117. The two CDS Clearing Members in a Matched Pair and the Clearing House shall each be deemed to agree to joinder of any separate arbitrations under Rule 117 between either of the two CDS Clearing Members in the Matched Pair and the Clearing House.
- (x) Until such time as any dispute concerning an MP Notice is resolved, the Clearing House shall be entitled to calculate Margin requirements for each of the CDS

Clearing Members in a Matched Pair based on the maximum Margin requirement for each of the CDS Clearing Members that could result, in the opinion of the Clearing House, from any reasonably foreseeable outcome of any such dispute.

- (xi) Unless and until such time as any dispute concerning an MP Notice is resolved, the Clearing House shall not be obliged to take any step that would have been required of it were the MP Notice to have been validly served. If any matter relating to a Restructuring Credit Event Notice (or alleged Restructuring Credit Event Notice) is disputed, then any Notice to Exercise Movement Option or purported Notice to Exercise Movement Option in relation to the CDS Contract under dispute may only be delivered pursuant to the Manual Notice Process. In such instances, the preconditions to using the Manual Notice Process (other than those set out in this paragraph 8.4(g)(xi)) and other requirements set out in paragraph 8.4(f)(v) shall not apply.
- (xii) Upon the rendering of a final decision pursuant to such arbitration, the Clearing House and the relevant CDS Clearing Members shall take such actions with respect to the disputed CDS Contract as the Clearing House determines appropriate to give effect to such decision, which may include, without limitation, effecting settlement pursuant to the Transaction Auction Settlement Terms and termination of the related CDS Contract, creating or increasing the parties' Open Contract Positions, paying any accrued but unpaid Fixed Amounts and/or recalculating the parties' Margin requirements, and the CDS Clearing Members shall perform their respective obligations in accordance with the Clearing House's determinations. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein or in any decision pursuant to such arbitration, the Clearing House shall not be obligated to take any other action nor shall the Clearing House be liable for any other damages, including, without limitation, punitive damages, consequential damages, incidental damages, lost profits, attorney's fees or other costs or pre- or post-judgment interest. Any other action or damages required by any such decision shall be the direct obligation of the relevant CDS Clearing Members to each other, and such CDS Clearing Members shall be entitled to pursue directly against each other whatever legal remedies may be available. For the avoidance of doubt, the Clearing House shall have no liability with respect to any such legal remedies between such CDS Clearing Members and the Clearing House shall have no obligation to participate in any related proceeding.
- (xiii) If the Clearing House receives notice, from either the CDS Seller or the CDS Buyer in a Matched Pair, after the Notification Cut-Off Time, in respect of an MP Notice that:
 - (A) Such MP Notice, being a Manual MP Notice, was allegedly timely delivered between the parties in such Matched Pair but a copy or memorandum thereof was not delivered to the Clearing House before the Notification Cut-Off Time; or
 - (B) Such MP Notice is under dispute as to whether it was timely delivered between the parties in such Matched Pair,

then the Clearing House will notify the other party in such Matched Pair as soon as reasonably practicable. Upon such notification by the Clearing House, the CDS Buyer and CDS Seller in such Matched Pair shall be directly liable to each other, and shall be entitled to pursue directly against each other whatever legal remedies may be available, for the difference between (x) their respective Open Contract Positions (or proceeds thereof) in the relevant CDS Contract at the Clearing House by virtue of such notice being invalid against the Clearing House (in the case of (A) above) or by virtue of the Clearing House acting based on its interpretation of the notice it

Definitions (including, for the avoidance of doubt any Weighted Average Quotation) such Quotation shall be deemed be the Highest Quotation and the Matched CDS Buyer (as if it were Calculation Agent) shall use such Quotation to determine the Final Price.

- (ii) Otherwise,"

11. CONTRACT TERMS FOR ITRAXX EUROPE CONTRACTS

11.1 This paragraph 11 specifies the additional Contract Terms applicable to all CDS Contracts cleared by the Clearing House of a nature described in paragraph 9.1:

- (a) The provisions of paragraph 11.2 will apply in respect of all such CDS Contracts for which the Acceptance Time falls on or after the MCA/STS Changeover Time.
- (b) In respect of all such CDS Contracts for which the Acceptance Time falls before the MCA/STS Changeover Time, the provisions of paragraph 11.3 will apply until the MCA/STS Changeover Time and thereafter the provisions of paragraph 11.4 will apply.
- (c) The provisions of paragraph 11.5 will apply to all such CDS Contracts, irrespective of the date of the related Acceptance Time.

11.2 **iTraxx Europe (CDS Contracts with Acceptance Time on or after the MCA/STS Changeover Time)**

- (a) Definitions specific to this paragraph 11.2:
 - (i) **"iTraxx Contract"** means a CDS Contract in respect of any Eligible iTraxx Index and governed by any iTraxx Terms Supplement. Subject to the other requirements of these procedures, a CDS Contract will be an iTraxx Contract where the related Bilateral CDS Transaction specifies, as the relevant Index, any Eligible iTraxx Index, whether or not that Bilateral CDS Transaction is itself governed by an iTraxx Terms Supplement.
 - (ii) **"iTraxx Publisher"** means Markit Group Limited or one of its subsidiaries, or any successor sponsor of the Eligible iTraxx Indices it publishes.
 - (iii) **"iTraxx Rules"** means the provisions of the Rules and these CDS Procedures.
 - (iv) **"iTraxx Terms Supplement"** means each of the following: (a) a confirmation in the form of the confirmation (the **"iTraxx Confirmation"**) published on 23 November 2009 incorporating the iTraxx Europe Untranchéd Standard Terms Supplement as published on 23 November 2009 (the **"Standard iTraxx CDS Supplement"**) or such electronic equivalent thereto as is used by Deriv/Serv/SERV and (b) such other document or supplement as may be specified in relation to any Eligible iTraxx Index by the Clearing House including any successor to any of the documents listed in sub-paragraphs (a) or (b) of this definition. For the purpose of each iTraxx Contract, reference in the iTraxx Terms Supplement and the Credit Derivatives Definitions to a "Credit Derivatives Transaction" shall be deemed to be references to a CDS Contract and references to an "iTraxx® Master Transaction" shall be deemed references to an iTraxx Contract.
 - (v) **"Eligible iTraxx Index"** means each particular series and version (of a Set which is eligible for Clearing) of an iTraxx index or sub-index, as published by the iTraxx Publisher, included from time to time in the List of Eligible iTraxx Indices.

With respect to each iTraxx Contract for which the iTraxx Confirmation and the Standard iTraxx CDS Supplement forms the Relevant iTraxx Terms Supplement, the following terms will apply:

- (i) The terms of the Standard iTraxx CDS Supplement are hereby amended as follows:
 - (A) by the deletion of paragraph 2 thereof in relation to CDS Contracts arising pursuant to Weekly Clearing;
 - (B) the provisions of paragraph 7.3(a) thereof relating to the transfer of Component Transactions shall be subject to any transfers of or other dealings with the relevant iTraxx Contract (including in particular the provisions of paragraph 7 hereof) by the Clearing House permitted or authorised by the Rules;
 - (C) the provisions of paragraph 7.3(b)(ii) thereof shall be amended by adding at the end, immediately after "(such new Transaction, a New Trade)" the following: "and except that the Reference Obligation for the purposes of the New Trade will be the preferred SNEC Contract Reference Obligation for the Restructured Entity in question, as specified by the Clearing House following consultation with the CDS Risk Committee."
 - (D) ~~(C)~~ by adding the following as a new sub-paragraph (c) at the end of Paragraph 7.3 (*Transfer and Termination of Component Transactions*):

"(c) If a Credit Event Announcement is made by the Regional CDS Committee in respect of an Applicable Credit Event, then from and including the calendar day immediately following the date of such Credit Event Announcement, the parties shall take such actions (if any) as shall be necessary to implement the RCE Solution (as defined in the CDS Procedures) published by the Regional CDS Committee in relation to such Credit Event Announcement."; and
 - (E) ~~(D)~~ by the deletion of paragraph 7.7 (*De Minimis Cash Settlement*).
- (ii) The terms of the iTraxx Confirmation are hereby amended as follows:
 - (A) Deleting the words "ISDA Master Agreement" in the fourth line of the first paragraph and replacing it with "CDS Master Agreement";
 - (B) Deleting the fourth paragraph thereof and replacing it with the following: "This Confirmation supplements, forms a part of and is subject to the CDS Master Agreement between the relevant CDS Clearing Member and the Clearing House (the **Agreement**). All provisions contained in, or incorporated by reference in, the Agreement shall govern this Confirmation except as expressly modified below.";
 - (C) The "Calculation Agent" is the Clearing House, except as expressly provided otherwise in the Rules or the CDS Procedures;
 - (D) The "Source of Relevant Annex" is "Publisher";
 - (E) There are no "Excluded Reference Entities";
 - (F) There are no "Additional terms"; and
 - (G) Deleting the contact details for notices and the account details.